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Start on the front steps of the Ontario County Historical Society museum.  The Historical 

Society was founded in 1902.  It held its meetings and housed its collections in several small 

buildings before the construction of the present museum.  One of them was a former law office 

located about where the present YMCA connects with the old Post Office across the street.  That 

old building was moved and finally demolished in 1911. 

 

 
 

The law office that served as the first Historical Society museum in Canandaigua is shown 

on the right in this vintage postcard. 

 

Although all but one are now demolished, there were more than two dozen small law 

offices along Main Street in the early 1800's. The office where Stephan A. Douglas studied law 

[see postcard above] has been preserved behind the Granger Homestead on North Main Street 

since 1961.  Douglas, who lived in Phelps, attended Canandaigua Academy, and then studied law 

here before moving to Illinois about 1835.   

 

Rochester architect Claude Bragdon who designed many local landmarks built the current 

museum building on the site of the old Daniels homestead in 1914.  For 59 years the Wood 

Library shared the building.  Now up the street at the corner of Wilcox Lane and Main Street, it 

is named for philanthropist, William Wood, who gave money for many causes including public 

libraries and planting trees along Main Street.  He lived just across the street, on Greig Terrace, 

for many years and was known as ñUncle Billy.ò 

 

Walk down the street heading south (left from the museum, toward the business district).  

You will pass two houses now used as law offices and a funeral home. 

 

The Johnson Funeral Home sits on the site of Myron Holleyôs home.  He was a 

controversial figure who was a newspaper publisher for a while, then spent many years as a state 

commissioner for the Erie Canal.  Holley was also a staunch abolitionist and is buried in Mt. 
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Hope Cemetery in Rochester.  The Johnson Funeral Home was built about 1850 and was the 

home of Albert M. Murray, an 1861 West Point graduate who died in enemy hands outside 

Atlanta in 1864.  Twice brevetted for gallant service, Albert Murray was buried in West Avenue 

Cemetery in 1866.  The GAR post in Canandaigua was named for Murray. 

 

 
 

Theodore Crosby home and former bank.  Original YMCA building 1905-1959. 

 

Next to the Johnson Funeral Home is a parking lot.  The original Canandaigua YMCA 

building stood there.  The modern ñYò complex was begun in 1959.  The original building was 

the Theodore Crosby home and the Utica Branch Bank chartered in 1815.  It was converted to a 

YMCA with gymnasium, game and meeting rooms, and a bowling alley in 1905.  The YMCA 

movement came to Canandaigua in the 1890s as an outgrowth of Samuel Cole Fairleyôs Sunday 

School class at the Congregational Church. 

 

The white brick house next door is often referred to as the Paul house and was built in 

1808.  It was the first brick house in Canandaigua and was also a store for a while.  Later 

prominent lawyer, Mark Sibley, owned it.  Before 1819 the local Masonic lodge met here.  Until 

the Civil War, the land from here north was farmland with a few large homes.  The houses you 

see on North Main Street were built after 1870 for the most part.  Many of the side streets did not 

exist before the Civil War. 

 

At the corner of Gorham Street is a large brick building.  Built in 1812, this Federal style 

building was the home and office of Nathaniel Gorham II, son of Nathaniel Gorham.  The elder 

man was a partner with Oliver Phelps in purchasing all of Western New York from Seneca Lake 

to the Genesee River.  The older Gorham was also a signer of the US Constitution from 

Massachusetts.  After two generations of use as a store, warehouse, and residence this house 

became the home of the Red Jacket Club late in the 19
th
 Century.  An exclusive social club for 

men, its members were the elite of the area.  From 1926-1947 American Legion Post #256 was 

located here and its name can still be seen carved above the Gorham Street door. 
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Cross Gorham Street and continue walking south, past the Court House. 

 

The building you see here was enlarged to its present size in 1908.  When it was built in 

1857-58 it was only half as big.  As you look at the front of the building you can see a ñbay,ò as 

architects call it, on each end.  Those were added in 1908-09.  At that time the inside was 

completely remodeled with new courtrooms.  The brick on the front was taken from the sides 

and back and applied to the new sections to give it an even color in 1909. 

 

 
 

This postcard image of the Court House was made about 1910. 

 

There have been many dramatic trials in this building.  The most famous was the trial of 

Susan B. Anthony for voting in 1873.  Her trial was held in the old north courtroom, which no 

longer exists.  It was on the second floor about where the window closest to the pillar is located.   

 

Anthony was tried here because the federal district attorney could not get an impartial 

jury selected in Rochester.  Justice Ward Hunt directed the jury to find Anthony guilty after she 
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admitted to voting, and in consideration of several recent Supreme Court precedents.  It was a 

very unpopular decision in this region even then.   

 

Hunt was a newly appointed Associate Justice of the US Supreme Court.  When the court 

was not meeting in Washington, its Justices rode circuit presiding over other federal courts.  

Anthony refused to pay the fine Justice Hunt levied, but he refused to put her in jail as she 

wanted.  Had he done so, she could have asked for a writ of habeas corpus which would have 

allowed her to come back into court.  Hunt wanted to prevent that and all the political turmoil it 

would have caused.   

 

Anthony was actually tried under a federal statute known as the ñKu Klux Klan Lawò 

enacted after the Civil War.  That law made it a federal crime for anyone to vote if they knew 

that they were not entitled to vote.  It was aimed at suppressing the Klan in the Reconstruction 

South.  In New York there was no statute that said that women could not vote, but ñeveryone 

knew itò under common law.  Anthony claimed that the 14
th
 Amendment to the Constitution 

gave her the right to vote.  The Supreme Court disagreed with that point of view several times in 

the 19
th
 Century.  Women finally got the right to vote in New York in 1917.  For many years, the 

14
th
 Amendment was not applied to the states. 

 

 
 

Court House as it looked at the time of the Susan B. Anthony trial in 1873. 

 

Look at the large boulder on the lawn.  That was placed there in 1902 by Dr. Dwight R. 

Burrell, a well-known local physician.  Burrell loved large rocks.  He had four two-ton boulders 

brought to Canandaigua by rail.  One is here and commemorates the 1794 Treaty of Canandaigua 

also called the ñPickering Treaty.ò  Still honored by both the Iroquois Indians and the US 

government, it is celebrated here each year on November 11, the anniversary of its signing.  An 

original copy of the treaty is at the museum.  Robert Griffing has produced a detailed and 

accurate painting of the treaty made available to the public by Wegmans. 

 

One of Dr. Burrellôs other rocks is out on Squaw Island and tells why the island became a 

special state reservation.  Another rock is in Woodlawn Cemetery and serves as Dr. Burrellôs 

tombstone.  The fourth rock was placed in the middle of a highway intersection on the west side 

of town.  It served as a historical marker for the Sullivan Expedition during the American 

Revolution (1779).  When the road was widened in 1968, that rock was broken up and buried. 



July 2013 

 

 
 

Dr. Burrellôs ñtombstoneò in Woodlawn Cemetery. 

 

 Up Ontario Street, just over the crest of the hill, is the site of the first three county jails.  

There, Ontario County carried out its only two hangings.  The last one, in 1889, was so gruesome 

it was used as an argument for the introduction of the electric chair. 

 

 
 

Ontario County Jail built in 1815 and used until 1894.  Both public hangings were 

carried out in the yard to the left of the building.  Here William Morgan was 

kidnapped in 1826. 

 

Cross over Ontario Street. 

 

The park land in front of the police station is part of the Public Square.  Canandaigua was 

laid out by Oliver Phelps, a New England native who wanted the town to have a large public 

square.  Early county fairs were held here and militia units and public celebrations were 

organized here.  The square actually includes this part, the land around the courthouse, the park 

across the street with the bandstand, and the land around City Hall. 
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The fountain you see is the second one on the site.  It was the gift of Frank B. Merrill, 

president of the first water works company in town, a private franchise, in 1888.  It was 

rebuilt by landscape architect, John Handrahan in 1909. 

 

Over the years since 1815, several hotels have been built on what is now the site of the 

police station.  The last one burned in 1971.  Canandaigua had several hotels in the 19
th
 and early 

20
th
 Centuries.  It was a hub of stagecoach travel when routes 5 & 20 were a private turnpike, 

and most other roads were muddy and rutted.  In some areas around Canandaigua there were 

plank roads.  One of those started in ñPumpkin Hook,ò ran into Victor, over the hill to 

Bloomfield, then down the Bristol Valley.  They were very popular in the 1830ôs and 1840ôs. 

 

 
 

The Canandaigua Hotel as it looked in the early 1900s. 

 

In 1840 the Auburn and Rochester Rail Road entered Canandaigua from Victor.  It 

continued on to Shortsville, Clifton Springs, Phelps, Geneva, Waterloo, Seneca Falls, and 

Auburn.  Later extended to Syracuse, it became part of the New York Central system.  In 1853 

another line started here and ran to John Roeblingôs new suspension bridge at Niagara Falls.  

Taken over by the New York Central Railroad, it was called the ñPeanut Lineò because, as one 

Central director said, it was too expensive for ñsuch a peanut of a line.ò   

 

At one time trains came and went every few minutes here.  After 1850, a line from the 

Pennsylvania coalfields connected Canandaigua with Baltimore and brought fresh seafood to 


